School for Earth and Environment Te Kura Aronukurangi



Juvenile bar-tailed godwit (*Limosa lapponica baueri*) settlement at the Avon-Heathcote Estuary/Te Ihutai

Prepared for the Avon-Heathcote Estuary Ihutai Trust

by

Yelana Greig, Eleanor Gunby, Helene O'Neill, Julian Washington, and Ellen Wilson-Hill

School of Earth and Environment, University of Canterbury

Table of Contents

Executive Summary
Introduction4
Literature Review5
Migration Patterns5
Human Disturbance5
Water and Sediment Quality6
Climate Change8
Methods8
Results and Discussion
Overview of Godwit Numbers and Site Use10
Site Use on the Western Side13
Southshore Spit13
Linwood Paddocks14
Limitations15
Recommendations
Conclusions
Acknowledgements18
References

Executive Summary

- Bar-tailed godwits (*Limosa lapponica baueri*) are native shorebirds that migrate between New Zealand and Alaska each year. Juveniles visit different sites in New Zealand before settling at one, which they return to each year following migration.
- This research aimed to study how human disturbance and environmental quality affect the settlement of juvenile godwits at the Avon-Heathcote Estuary/Te Ihutai.
- Primary data on the juveniles' locations and numbers was collected at the estuary. This was supplemented with secondary data from eBird and the Ornithological Society of New Zealand. A graph of juvenile population trends and a density map were created.
- Juvenile godwit numbers appear to be declining at the estuary. Over time, there have been hotspots of sightings around the western side of the estuary and Southshore Spit. A decline in their use of Southshore Spit was detected during 2021. This could be due to disturbance and flow-on effects of low water quality. However, juveniles were observed using Linwood Paddocks. This area appears to be a suitable roost site, with food availability at all tide levels and low disturbance.
- COVID-19 lockdown restrictions and the return of adult godwits limited primary data collection. Secondary data had limitations, including reduced reliability.
- Additional research, including longer duration studies, should be conducted to further investigate factors affecting juvenile godwit settlement.

Introduction

Bar-tailed godwits/kuaka (*Limosa lapponica baueri*) are migratory birds that are native to New Zealand. Each year they migrate 11,000 km between Alaska, where they spend their breeding season, and New Zealand and Australia, where they spend the non-breeding season (Conklin et al., 2016; Woodley, 2017). After initially migrating to New Zealand, juvenile godwits spend 2-4 years here, visiting different locations before choosing one site to settle at (Battley et al., 2020). Adult godwits are site faithful, returning after migration each year to the same location they settled at as juveniles (Battley et al., 2020).

Bar-tailed godwits have a large population at the Avon-Heathcote Estuary/Te Ihutai. This is a site of ecological significance located on the eastern side of Christchurch (Shadbolt, 2015). It has a variety of indigenous vegetation (Shadbolt, 2015) and is an important location for shorebird settlement, including godwits (Sage, 2018). Over time, the land use surrounding the estuary has changed considerably, with the wetland vegetation being reduced to less than 20% of its former extent (Shadbolt, 2015). The estuary is now bordered by farmland, the Bromley Oxidation Ponds, and an increasing number of locations where human activity is prevalent, such as beach access points, boardwalks, and sea walls (Avon-Heathcote Estuary Ihutai Trust, 2020).

The global godwit population is decreasing by 2% each year (Conklin et al., 2016), and their conservation status is at risk of declining (Department of Conservation, n.d). This raises concerns from both conservation and cultural perspectives. Godwits are culturally significant birds to Māori (He Kuaka – Te Mana Kaha O Te Whanua, n.d.). New Zealand is a key overwintering habitat for godwits and is, therefore, a critical conservation location for the future of this species. The effects of environmental quality and human disturbance on godwits at the estuary could have wider implications on the overall health of their population (Battley et al., 2011).

Therefore, it is important to determine what factors are influencing juvenile godwit settlement at the estuary so solutions can be devised to encourage more juveniles to settle there and to support the global population. This Geography-309 project aimed to identify how human disturbance and environmental quality affect the settlement of juvenile godwits at the Avon-Heathcote Estuary.

4

This report begins with a review of relevant literature focused on factors that may affect juvenile godwit settlement. The methods of the report are then explained, followed by the results and discussion. Limitations, recommendations, and future research focus areas are then identified, followed by a conclusion.

Literature Review

Literature around migration patterns, human disturbance, water and sediment quality, and climate change was reviewed. These findings highlight the importance of assessing the effects of human disturbance and environmental quality, as these are likely key drivers affecting juvenile godwit settlement at the estuary.

Migration Patterns

Adult godwit migration is a key variable that directly influences identification of juvenile godwits at the estuary. As there is no long-term dataset that focuses on the Avon-Heathcote Estuary, understanding how and when adults migrate relies on studies that focus on other estuaries around New Zealand (Battley et al., 2020).

Juvenile godwits reside in New Zealand until they reach adulthood (2 – 4+ years old). After this, they migrate in March – April each year to the Yellow Sea, where they stop to refuel before continuing on to Alaska (Battley et al., 2012; Choi et al., 2015). When adult godwits are not in New Zealand, juveniles can be accurately observed (Battley et al., 2020; Conklin et al., 2010). Therefore, migration timing was a key factor to consider when setting up the project's methodological approach.

Human Disturbance

There has been little research into how human disturbance affects godwits, including in New Zealand. However, overseas research provides insight into how shorebirds in general react to disturbance, and the implications disturbance can have. Flight initiation distance (FID) refers to the distance at which a bird begins escaping from disturbance (Navedo & Herrera, 2012). Glover et al. (2011) looked at 28 shorebird species in Victoria, Australia, and found they often have increased FIDs when in larger flocks, possibly because disturbance is detected earlier. Heavier shorebirds had greater FIDs (Glover et al., 2011), suggesting godwits may be more readily disturbed than smaller species. Flock composition can also affect FID. Both knots (*Calidris* spp.) and plovers (*Charadrius* spp.) in Darwin, Australia, had greater FIDs in single species flocks compared to mixed species flocks (Lilleyman et al., 2016).

The type of disturbance can also affect how shorebirds respond. Overall, faster forms of disturbance, such as joggers or people with dogs, seem more disruptive, causing shorebirds to flee earlier than pedestrians (Glover et al., 2011; Mayo et al., 2015). There are mixed findings around whether shorebirds habituate to disturbance (Glover et al., 2011; Lilleyman et al., 2016; Martín et al., 2015; Navedo & Herrera, 2012).

Human disturbance can cause shorebirds to increase vigilance and decrease feeding, as Martín et al. (2015) found in Kentish plovers (*Charadrius alexandrinus*) at Los Lances Beach, Spain. Energy costs at highly disturbed sites may be unsustainable. Lilleyman et al. (2016) suggested this was a concern for knots and plovers in Darwin. Ultimately, birds may leave highly disturbed sites and move elsewhere, as seen in shorebirds in Santoña, Victoria and Joyel Marshes Natural Park, Spain (Navedo & Herrera, 2012). This suggests human disturbance is a factor that may affect juvenile godwit settlement. It was, therefore, one aspect considered in this project.

Water and Sediment Quality

The Avon-Heathcote Estuary has many inputs, including the Avon and Heathcote rivers. Additionally, storm water drains and drainage from the surrounding land and oxidation ponds discharge into the estuary, the latter of which provides the largest input (Bolton-Ritchie & Main, 2005). The Pacific Ocean also feeds into the estuary. Decaying plants and animals contained within the estuary cause the water and sediment to be abundant with nutrients (Carlson et al., 2013). Heavy metals and metalloids are naturally found in the environment, but human activity increases their concentration to levels that may be harmful to animals (Bolton-Ritchie, 2010). This is usually caused by run-off from roads, factories, and agricultural land, which all occur near the estuary.

Bolton-Ritchie and Main (2005) concluded that the concentrations of nutrients found in the estuary were comparable to the Australia New Zealand Environment and Conservation Council trigger levels for 'slightly disturbed estuarine water'. The trigger levels indicate where adverse biological effects may begin to occur. For example, macroalgal growth can only occur when certain threshold nutrient levels are observed (Ren et al., 2014). Some sites around the estuary, such as those closer to the river mouths or oxidation ponds, had higher nutrient concentrations than others (Bolton-Ritchie & Main, 2005). However, at all sites, water quality exceeded the trigger values. This study occurred before any of the recent Christchurch earthquakes. The 2011 earthquakes led to the breakdown of Christchurch's wastewater infrastructure, causing untreated sewage to be discharged into the estuary between February and June 2011 (Barr et al., 2020). As a result, eutrophication occurred, but this was reversed once repairs were made (Barr et al., 2020).

Sediment is a good integrator and amplifier of metals; thus, heavy metal contamination is concerning in aquatic ecosystems such as the estuary as metals can accumulate and cause adverse effects on the inter-tidal habitats (Lau, 2000). Carnivorous migratory birds like godwits are at greater risk of contamination exposure. This is because benthic invertebrates, the godwits' primary food source, accumulate significant concentrations of contaminants from sediment (Liu et al., 2015). This could potentially lead to biomagnification and impacts on food webs (Cui et al., 2011; Jumbe & Nandini, 2009), a wider issue that must be considered in the environmental quality assessment. These effects are concerning as the highest heavy metal concentrations in the Heathcote catchment are downstream at the Curletts Road Drain and City Outfall Drain. These both directly drain into the eastern part of the estuary (Gadd, 2015). Thus, the health of the Heathcote catchment is closely connected with the estuary.

Following the Christchurch earthquake in February 2011, liquefaction covered 20 – 40% of the estuary bed. The sediment from liquefaction contained lower concentrations of heavy metals compared to pre-existing sediments, as it came from historical pollutant sources. Despite this, the changes in mudflat exposure and liquefaction likely impacted

7

sedimentation patterns and estuary biota (Zeldis et al., 2011). This raises concerns about the impacts on godwits, other organisms, and vegetation in the estuary.

Overall, pollutants and excess nutrients can affect sediment and water quality, negatively impacting ecosystems (Lau, 2000; Ren et al., 2014). Water and sediment quality are relevant to juvenile godwit settlement patterns as they can affect the quality and availability of food sources for godwits. Therefore, they were considered in this project as factors that could affect juvenile godwit settlement.

Climate Change

Global sea levels are rising due to climate change (Nicholls & Cazenave, 2010). Sea level rise changes the morphology of estuaries and is predicted to be the main driver of future habitat loss as roosting sites will be prone to flooding (Austin & Rehfisch, 2003). Sea level rise may also affect sediment quality in the future, which is a major influence on where wading birds settle (Veloz et al., 2013). To protect juvenile godwits, future plans must consider the impacts of sea level rise. For example, restoring wetlands can provide wading birds with new habitat if their previous habitat becomes flooded (Kelly & Condeso, 2017).

Methods

This research occurred at the Avon-Heathcote Estuary (-43.545507, 172.729302), which is separated from the Pacific Ocean by Southshore Spit and is made up of 880 hectares of mudflats and salt marsh (Crossland, 2013). Near the estuary are the 875-hectare Bromley Oxidation Ponds and 100-hectare Linwood Paddocks (Crossland, 2013). There are also 40 hectares of nearby man-made tidal wetlands (Crossland, 2013).

This project combines data from three different sources. The first source is primary data, which was collected by visiting 12 different sites around the estuary throughout August (Figure 1), making a total of 29 site visits. On each visit, counts of godwits were made, although they were only observed on six visits. The godwits' behaviour, any potential human disturbance, and habitat characteristics were also noted.



Figure 1: A map of the Avon-Heathcote Estuary. Each primary data collection site, indicated by a labelled red circle, was visited between one and five times in August 2021. Sites with secondary observations of godwits from eBird are indicated with asterisks (*) beside the site names.

The next source of data is secondary data of godwit numbers at different sites around the estuary (Figure 1). This comes from eBird, a citizen science website where members of the public can log their bird sightings (eBird, n.d.). The eBird data included observations between 1997-2019 and from June-August 2021. As this project is focused on juveniles, data between September and March was excluded, as this is when adult godwits are in New Zealand (Battley et al., 2011). This left 29 separate godwit observations to use alongside our primary data.

The final source of data is secondary data from winter wader counts conducted between 2000-2021 by the Ornithological Society of New Zealand. This survey involved counts of waders present at different sites around the country, including the total numbers of godwits

present at the Avon-Heathcote Estuary. The survey only includes juveniles as it is conducted in winter when the adults are overseas (Battley et al., 2011).

The wader count data from the Ornithological Society of New Zealand was used to show trends in juvenile godwit numbers at the estuary over time. Combining the primary data with secondary data from eBird, a density analysis of flock counts was run in ArcMap using the kernel density (spatial analyst) tool (ArcGIS, n.d.) to show juvenile site use around the estuary. A significance weighting of 2 was applied to areas that had flock sizes of greater than 50 and for areas with flock sizes below 50 a significance weighting of 1 was applied.

Using this data, themes in the sites that juveniles prefer, and changes in their site use over time, were identified. Based on observations and previous literature, possible factors were suggested that could affect the settlement patterns of juvenile godwits.

Results and Discussion

Overview of Godwit Numbers and Site Use

While the number of juvenile godwits at the estuary fluctuates over time, there appears to be an overall slowly declining trend (Figure 2). This could be explained by the 2% yearly decline in godwit numbers worldwide (Murray et al., 2018). The decrease in juvenile godwit numbers at the estuary around 2011 and 2012 could also be related to the February 2011 Canterbury earthquake. This caused untreated sewage to flow into the estuary from February-July that year, temporarily decreasing water quality (Barr et al., 2020). Liquefaction also occurred, covering up to 40% of the estuary (Potter et al., 2015). By smothering macroinvertebrates and bivalves (Bolton-Ritchie, 2015), which godwits feed on (Ross, 2019), liquefaction could have decreased the godwits' food source. These factors could have caused some godwits to move elsewhere.



Figure 2: Trends in juvenile bar-tailed godwit numbers over winter at the Avon-Heathcote Estuary between 2000-2021. Data obtained from the Ornithological Society of New Zealand.

Figure 3 shows the different locations of juvenile godwits sightings at the estuary between 1997-2019 and in June-August 2021. Sightings have a higher density around three broad areas of the estuary. One cluster is located to the south-east of the estuary, at the tip of Southshore Spit (Figure 3). A second cluster is found at the north of the estuary, around Bexley Wetlands and Rat Island Reserve (Figure 3). The final cluster is located around the western side by the Windsurf Carpark, Sandy Point, the Humphreys Drive Foreshore, and Main Road (Figure 3). In particular, the areas around the south-east and west of the estuary have been frequently used by juveniles over time, with greater densities in these sites (Figure 3).



Figure 3: A kernel density map of juvenile bar-tailed godwit observations at the Avon-Heathcote Estuary, based on primary observations and secondary data obtained from eBird.

Site Use on the Western Side

The western side of the estuary around the Windsurf Carpark, Sandy Point, and the Humphreys Drive Foreshore seems to be regularly utilised by godwits. The water quality in this area is lower than other sites around the estuary, likely due to inputs from the Heathcote River and drains nearby (Gadd et al., 2020). It is unclear why godwits may prefer these sites to others at the estuary with better water quality. However, one possible explanation could relate to human disturbance.

Overall, human disturbance in these locations seems to be lower than in other parts of the estuary. Sandy Point should have minimal disturbance, as it cannot be publicly accessed. Based on our observations, there seems to be low human activity around the Humphreys Drive Foreshore. This could be because there is little parking and no footpath beside the estuary. Around the Windsurf Carpark, we observed some disturbance, largely from windsurfers. The impacts of windsurfing on shorebirds are unclear due to a lack of prior research. However, we only observed windsurfers at high tide. Based on our observations, there seems to be a lack of suitable high tide roosting habitat in this area. Therefore, there may be temporal separation in the use of the area by godwits and windsurfers, meaning the windsurfing may have limited impacts on godwits.

Southshore Spit

Another pattern in this data relates to juvenile godwit numbers at Southshore Spit. From 1997-2018, juveniles were reported on eBird at the spit, including in larger flocks than in many other areas (Figure 3). However, no juvenile godwits were seen at Southshore Spit from June-August this year.

This change in site use could be due to the flow-on effects water quality. Overall, water quality measurements have improved at the estuary in recent years. This is because wastewater has been discharged out to sea since 2010 (Gadd et al., 2020), excluding the temporary entry of raw sewage caused by the 2011 earthquake (Barr et al., 2020). However, nutrients still enter the estuary through other sources, including the Avon and Heathcote rivers (Gadd et al., 2020; Potter et al., 2015). Nitrogen inputs are leading to macroalgal

growth (Gadd et al., 2020). Because the nitrogen is being quickly taken up by the algae, especially during summer, it may not be picked up in high levels during monitoring (Gadd et al., 2020). However, it can still affect the habitat. Decomposing macroalgae can reduce the amount of oxygen available in sediments, making the habitat less suitable for macroinvertebrates (Gadd et al., 2020). This affects the godwits' food source. Macroalgal blooms occur throughout the estuary. However, on the eastern site of the estuary, where Southshore Spit is located, blooms of the sea lettuce *Ulva* have detrimentally affected beds of the seagrass *Zostera muelleri* (Gadd et al., 2020). *Z. muelleri* is an important component of the estuarine ecosystem. It provides habitat for invertebrates and other species, stabilises sediment and affects its deposition (Siciliano et al., 2019). Therefore, the decline in *Z. muelleri* resulting from nutrient inputs and algal blooms may affect the use of this area by juvenile godwits.

Another possible explanation for the lack of juvenile godwits observed on Southshore Spit is human disturbance. Southshore Spit is a popular recreation site and human activity was observed there during this research. This included cyclists, pedestrians, and people with dogs on and off leash. Off leash dogs were observed in restricted areas on multiple occasions. This is of particular concern, given dogs disturb shorebirds from a greater distance than pedestrians (Glover et al., 2011; Mayo et al., 2015). Ultimately, disturbance can cause shorebirds to leave roost sites and move elsewhere (Navedo & Herrera, 2012). If human disturbance has increased on Southshore Spit over time, or if humans are using the area differently, this may have reduced the suitability of this habitat for juvenile godwits.

Linwood Paddocks

While eBird had no previous observations of juvenile godwits in the Linwood Paddocks, pictured in Figure 4, a flock of 161 juveniles were observed there on one visit during high tide. If other sites around the estuary, such as Southshore Spit, are decreasing in suitability for godwits, godwits may be using different sites than they did previously.

There are multiple reasons why the Linwood Paddocks may be a suitable location for godwits. One of these is the lack of disturbance, as there is no public access to these paddocks. On later visits, cows were seen in the paddocks. It is unclear if they affect godwits

using the habitat. While they could be a potential source of disturbance (Jackson & Straw, 2021), they could also keep the grass short. Generally, shorebirds prefer roosting in areas with good visibility (Jackson & Straw, 2021), so this may benefit the godwits.

At high tide, suitable feeding habitat on the estuary itself may be underwater. However, in the Linwood Paddocks, godwits can feed even at high tide, as was observed. Godwits are known to feed on terrestrial invertebrates in wet paddocks such as this (Woodley, 2017). Additionally, godwits do not need to travel far from the estuary to reach this habitat, as the paddocks are directly beside the estuary. These factors both increase the suitability of hightide roosts for shorebirds (Jackson & Straw, 2021).



Figure 4: The Linwood Paddocks, located on the western side of the Avon-Heathcote Estuary.

Limitations

Several limitations were identified as part of this research. The first of these involved the inconsistent timing of field observations. Due to this, the lack of repeatability in this study would not meet the assumptions attributed to scientific analysis (Cassey & Blackburn, 2006; Gregory et al., 2004). For the analysis to be repeatable, it would require a stronger, consistent methodological design that aims to control for variables such as time of

observation, weather conditions and time spent at each site. This follows the requirements set out by Gomez and Jones (2010) for sample design.

The next limitation was the time lost during the nationwide COVID-19 lockdown. This created a large gap in the dataset, as no observations could be conducted from the 17th of August until the 1st of September 2021 (New Zealand Government, 2021). Additionally, the end of lockdown coincided with the migration of adult godwits returning to the estuary from Alaska (Conklin et al., 2010). This meant observations could not resume after lockdown ended, due to the difficulty separating adults and juveniles.

The scale of the estuary itself posed an issue when making observations. Using equipment such as binoculars or spotting scopes was crucial for identifying species with high accuracy and precision. As only one member of the group owned such equipment, the remainder of the group struggled to identify species that were situated, at times, more than 500 metres from the edge of the estuary access points.

As seen in Figure 3, large numbers of godwit observations were identified to the southwest of the estuary, including around the Linwood Paddocks. Private land is owned north of this area, preventing access and the gathering of observational data there. Due to this, we were unable to investigate juvenile settlement behaviour in all the areas directly linked to the estuary.

A final limitation that affected our findings was the incorporation of secondary data sources. As the data used was based on citizen science observational counts, there is an intrinsic element of error in the form of both overestimation and underestimation (Randler, 2021). This means there is likely low accuracy associated with this data, but not necessarily low precision (Gregory et al., 2004). The data is also skewed into areas that are easily accessible to the public and away from areas that involve a more active search.

By affecting the amount and accuracy of data, the above limitations prevented the research question from being fully addressed. They also decreased the applicability of this research. However, this study still partly addressed the research question by suggesting some broad factors relating to environmental quality and human disturbance that may affect juvenile godwit settlement.

16

Recommendations

Similar studies have longer data collection periods, such as eight years (Miller et al., 2003). If this project were to continue over a longer timeframe, more definitive results could be collected. This would allow for a better understanding of juvenile godwit settlement patterns at the estuary. A longer study could involve individually colour-banding juveniles. Colour-banding has been used to study godwit movement in general around New Zealand (Battley et al., 2020). Tracking juveniles using GPS transmitters could also occur. This has been used to follow the movement of godwits in their overwintering grounds on the French coast (Jourdan et al., 2021). These tools could help provide a better understanding of juvenile settlement patterns.

In the 2021 winter, juvenile godwits were sighted in the Linwood Paddocks, which has not been recorded on eBird before. This would be useful to investigate further. Why are they using this area now, rather than in the past? How might cows in the paddocks affect the godwits' use of it? If godwits continue to use the paddocks, it is important to consider how the site could change through time. Will these paddocks be farmed in the same way they are now, or will they eventually be converted into land for developments? Also, what effects will climate change have on them? Their proximity to the estuary means they are at risk of submergence due to sea level rise.

Originally, this study aimed to monitor environmental factors, such as the water and sediment quality of the estuary, through field research. This would hopefully have allowed information about the quality and availability of the godwits' food to be deduced. A comparison of this data to the same features at other sites that juvenile godwits visit, such as the Miranda Coast in the Firth of Thames, would help better understand their preferences.

A deeper investigation into the impacts of human behaviours and godwit settlement patterns would be useful moving forward. Field observations from this project suggest that godwits prefer sites with lower disturbance, supporting findings relating to shorebirds in general overseas (Navedo & Herrera, 2012). However, gaining more information around godwit responses to human disturbance at the estuary would be useful. As previously

17

mentioned, the estuary is a popular windsurfing site. Godwits and windsurfers seem to be using areas at different tide levels, but more research around this would be useful.

Based on field observations, further signage and education around human access to areas of the estuary is recommended. Increased signage around Southshore Spit and its reserve would be useful, as this area is popular for recreation. There are beach access routes that did not clearly state the restrictions on dogs, and not all access points had signage. On several visits, dogs were seen off the leash and in areas where they are not permitted. While balancing recreational use and the protection of the area for wildlife is important, more education and awareness should be encouraged.

Conclusions

This report aimed to evaluate factors that influence the settlement of juvenile godwits on the Avon-Heathcote Estuary. Juvenile godwit numbers at the estuary appear to be slowly declining. Whilst Southshore Spit had previously higher numbers of juvenile godwits, during the winter of 2021 there were no sightings of juveniles at the spit. Instead, they were observed feeding in the Linwood Paddocks, which was not previously reported in eBird data. This indicates there may be a shift in juvenile site use around the estuary. Potential factors causing this change could include human disturbance, including disturbance caused by dogs, and flow-on effects of water quality. To encourage juvenile godwit settlement within the estuary, it is recommended that increased signage and education occur in areas of high juvenile density to try to mitigate human disturbance. Due to the limitations discussed, these conclusions surrounding the settlement of juvenile godwits may lack reliability. Future research, including longer duration studies, should be conducted to investigate juvenile godwit settlement and the factors that may affect it in more detail.

Acknowledgements

Thank you to our community partner, Ann Kennedy from the Avon-Heathcote Estuary Ihutai Trust, for her advice and for giving us the opportunity to be part of this project. Many thanks also to Dr Della Bennet for her guidance and support this semester. We would like to acknowledge Andrew Crossland from the Christchurch City Council for giving us permission to access Sandy Point. We would also like to acknowledge the Ornithological Society of New Zealand for access to their wader count data.

References

- ArcGIS. (n.d.). Kernel density tool. https://pro.arcgis.com/en/pro-app/latest/toolreference/spatial-analyst/how-kernel-density-works.htm
- Austin, G. E., & Rehfisch, M. M. (2003). The likely impact of sea level rise on waders (*Charadrii*) wintering on estuaries. *Journal for Nature Conservation*, 11(1), 43-58. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1078/1617-1381-00029</u>
- Avon-Heathcote Estuary Ihutai Trust. (2020). *Estuary management plan 2020-2030.* <u>http://www.estuary.org.nz/f/6ca2816ff22a4bb2.pdf</u>
- Barr, N., Zeldis, J., Scheuer, K., & Schiel, D. (2020). Macroalgal bioindicators of recovery from eutrophication in a tidal lagoon following wastewater diversion and earthquake disturbance. *Estuaries and Coasts, 43*(2), 240-255. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12237-019-00654-7
- Battley, P. F., Conklin, J. R., Parody-Merino, Á. M., Langlands, P. A., Southey, I., Burns, T.,
 Melville, D. S., Schuckard, R., Riegen, A. C., & Potter, M. A. (2020). Interacting roles of
 breeding geography and early-life settlement in godwit migration timing. *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution, 8*, 52. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fevo.2020.00052</u>
- Battley, P. F., Schuckard, R., & Melville, D. S. (2011). *Movements of bar-tailed godwits and red knots within New Zealand* (Science for Conservation 315). Department of Conservation. <u>https://www.doc.govt.nz/Documents/science-and-</u> <u>technical/sfc315.pdf</u>
- Battley, P. F., Warnock, N., Tibbitts, T. L., Gill Jr, R. E., Piersma, T., Hassell, C. J., Douglas, D. C., Mulcahy, D. M., Gartrell, B. D., Schuckard, R., Melville, D. S., & Riegen, A. C. (2012). Contrasting extreme long-distance migration patterns in bar-tailed godwits *Limosa lapponica. Journal of Avian Biology*, *43*(1), 21-32. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-048X.2011.05473.x
- Bolton-Ritchie, L. (2010). *Healthy estuary and rivers of the city: Water quality and ecosystem health monitoring programme of Ihutai* (Report No. R19/132). Environment Canterbury.
- Bolton-Ritchie, L. (2015). *The sediments and biota within the estuary of the Heathcote and Avon Rivers/Ihutai 2007-2013* (Report No. R15/46). Environment Canterbury.

- Bolton-Ritchie, L., & Main, M. (2005). *Nutrient water quality Avon-Heathcote Estuary/Ihutai: Inputs, concentrations and potential effects* (Report No. U05/71). Environment Canterbury.
- Carlson, J. C., Anderson, J. C., Low, J. E., Cardinal, P., MacKenzie, S. D., Beattie, S. A., Challis, J. K., Bennett, R. J., Meronek, S. S., Wilks, R. P. A., Buhay, W. M., Wong, C. S., & Hanson, M. L. (2013). Presence and hazards of nutrients and emerging organic micropollutants from sewage lagoon discharges into Dead Horse Creek, Manitoba, Canada. *Science of the Total Environment, 445-446*, 64-78. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2012.11.100
- Cassey, P., & Blackburn, T. M. (2006). Reproducibility and repeatability in ecology. BioScience, 56(12), 958-959. <u>https://doi.org/10.1641/0006-</u> <u>3568(2006)56[958:RARIE]2.0.CO;2</u>
- Choi, C.-Y., Battley, P. F., Potter, M. A., Rogers, K. G., & Ma, Z. (2015). The importance of Yalu Jiang coastal wetland in the north Yellow Sea to bar-tailed godwits *Limosa lapponica* and great knots *Calidris tenuirostris* during northward migration. *Bird Conservation International, 25*(1), 53-70.

https://doi.org/10.1017/S0959270914000124

- Conklin, J. R., Battley, P. F., Potter, M. A., & Fox, J. W. (2010). Breeding latitude drives individual schedules in a trans-hemispheric migrant bird. *Nature Communications*, 1(1), 1-6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms1072</u>
- Conklin, J., Lok, T., Melville, D., Riegen, A. C., Schuckard, R., Piersma, T., & Battley, P. F.
 (2016). Declining adult survival of New Zealand bar-tailed godwits during 2005–2012
 despite apparent population stability. *Emu Austral Ornithology*, *116*(2), 147-157.
 https://doi.org/10.1071/MU15058
- Crossland, A. C. (2013). Wetland bird monitoring at the Avon-Heathcote Estuary and Bromley Oxidation Ponds, Christchurch: August 2009 to July 2010. *Notornis, 60,* 151-157. <u>https://notornis.osnz.org.nz/system/files/Crossland%202013a.pdf</u>
- Cui, B., Zhang, Q., Zhang, K., Liu, X., & Zhang, H. (2011). Analyzing trophic transfer of heavy metals for food webs in the newly-formed wetlands of the Yellow River Delta, China. *Environmental Pollution*, 159(5), 1297-1306. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2011.01.024

Department of Conservation. (n.d). *Eastern bar-tailed godwit/kuaka*.

https://www.doc.govt.nz/nature/native-animals/birds/birds-a-z/eastern-bar-tailedgodwit/

- eBird. (n.d.). About eBird. https://ebird.org/about
- Gadd, J. (2015). Sediment quality survey for Heathcote River catchment, City Outfall Drain and Estuary Drain. NIWA.
 https://www.ccc.govt.nz/assets/Documents/Environment/Water/Monitoring-Reports/Heathcote-River-Linwood-Canal-and-Estuary-Drain-Sediment-Quality-2015-PDF-3.02-MB.PDF
- Gadd, J., Dudley, B., Montgomery, J., Whitehead, A., Measures, R., & Plew, D. (2020). *Water quality of estuary of the Heathcote and Avon Rivers/Ihutai*. NIWA.
- Glover, H. K., Weston, M. A., Maguire, G. S., Miller, K. K., & Christie, B. A. (2011). Towards ecologically meaningful and socially acceptable buffers: Response distances of shorebirds in Victoria, Australia, to human disturbance. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 103(3-4), 326-334. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2011.08.006
- Gomez, B., & Jones III, J. P. (2010). *Research methods in geography: A critical introduction*. Wiley-Blackwell.
- Gregory, R. D., Gibbons, D. W., & Donald, P. F. (2004). Bird census and survey techniques. In
 W. J. Sutherland, I. Newton, & R. Green (Eds), *Bird ecology and conservation: A handbook of techniques* (pp. 17-56). Oxford University Press.
 https://doi.org/10.1093/acprof:oso/9780198520863.003.0002
- He Kuaka Te Mana Kaha O Te Whanua. (n.d.). *The flight of the kuaka: Background.* <u>http://www.hekuaka.co.nz/the-flight-of-he-kuaka/background</u>
- Jackson, M. V., & Straw, P. (2021). *Coastal high-tide shorebird habitat management* guidelines. <u>https://doi.org/10.6084/m9.figshare.16628560.v1</u>
- Jourdan, C., Fort, J., Pinaud, D., Delaporte, P., Gernigon, J., Lachaussée, N., Lemelse, J.-C.,
 Pignon-Mussaud, C., Pineau, P., Robin, F., Rousseau, P., & Bocher, P. (2021).
 Nycthemeral movements of wintering shorebirds reveal important differences in
 habitat uses of feeding areas and roosts. *Estuaries and Coasts, 44*(5), 1454-1468.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s12237-020-00871-5
- Jumbe, A. S., & Nandini, N. (2009). Heavy metals analysis and sediment quality values in urban lakes. *American Journal of Environmental Sciences*, *5*(6), 678-687.

- Kelly, J. P., & Condeso, T. E. (2017). Tidal marsh restoration stimulates the growth of winter shorebird populations in a temperate estuary. *Restoration Ecology*, 25(4), 640-649. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/rec.12487</u>
- Lau, S. S. S. (2000). The significance of temporal variability in sediment quality for contamination assessment in a coastal wetland. *Water Research*, 34(2), 387-394. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0043-1354(99)00344-9
- Lilleyman, A., Franklin, D. C., Szabo, J. K., & Lawes, M. J. (2016). Behavioural responses of migratory shorebirds to disturbance at a high-tide roost. *Emu - Austral Ornithology*, *116*(2), 111-118. https://doi.org/10.1071/MU14070
- Liu, J., Liang, J., Yuan, X., Zeng, G., Yuan, Y., Wu, H., Huang, X., Liu, J., Hua, S., Li, F., & Li, X. (2015). An integrated model for assessing heavy metal exposure risk to migratory birds in wetland ecosystem: A case study in Dongting Lake Wetland, China. *Chemosphere*, *135*, 14-19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2015.03.053
- Martín, B., Delgado, S., de la Cruz, A., Tirado, S., & Ferrer, M. (2015). Effects of human presence on the long-term trends of migrant and resident shorebirds: Evidence of local population declines. *Animal Conservation, 18*(1), 73-81.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/acv.12139
- Mayo, T. W., Paton, P. W. C., & August, P. V. (2015). Responses of birds to humans at a coastal barrier beach: Napatree Point, Rhode Island. *Northeastern Naturalist*, 22(3), 501-512. https://doi.org/10.1656/045.022.0302
- Miller, J. R., Wiens, J. A., Hobbs, N. T., & Theobald, D. M. (2003). Effects of human settlement on bird communities in lowland riparian areas of Colorado (USA). *Ecological Applications*, *13*(4), 1041-1059. https://doi.org/10.1890/1051-0761(2003)13[1041:EOHSOB]2.0.CO;2
- Murray, N. J., Marra, P. P., Fuller, R. A., Clemens, R. S., Dhanjal-Adams, K., Gosbell, K. B.,
 Hassell, C. J., Iwamura, T., Melville. D., Minton, C. D. T., Riegen, A, C., Rogers, D. I.,
 Woehler, E. J., & Studds, C. E. (2018). The large-scale drivers of population declines in
 a long-distance migratory shorebird. *Ecography*, *41*(6), 867-876.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/ecog.02957
- Navedo, J. G., & Herrera, A. G. (2012). Effects of recreational disturbance on tidal wetlands: Supporting the importance of undisturbed roosting sites for waterbird conservation.

Journal of Coastal Conservation, 16(3), 373-381. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11852-012-0208-1

- New Zealand Government. (2021, October 8). COVID-19 alert level timeline. <u>https://covid19.govt.nz/alert-levels-and-updates/history-of-the-covid-19-alert-</u> <u>system/</u>
- Nicholls, R. J., & Cazenave, A. (2010). Sea-level rise and its impact on coastal zones. *Science*, *328*(5985), 1517-1520. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1185782
- Potter, S. H., Becker, J, S., Johnston, D. M., & Rossiter, K. P. (2015). An overview of the impacts of the 2010-2011 Canterbury earthquakes. *International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction*, *14*, 6-14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijdrr.2015.01.014
- Randler, C. (2021). Users of a citizen science platform for bird data collection differ from other birdwatchers in knowledge and degree of specialization. *Global Ecology and Conservation*, 27, e01580. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gecco.2021.e01580
- Ren, J. S., Barr, N. G., Scheuer, K., Schiel, D. R., & Zeldis, J. (2014). A dynamic growth model of macroalgae: Application in an estuary recovering from treated wastewater and earthquake-driven eutrophication. *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science, 148,* 59-69. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecss.2014.06.014
- Ross, T. A. (2019). The roles of morphology, individuality and arrival from migration in the foraging ecology of bar-tailed godwits at the Manawatū River Estuary [Master's Thesis, Massey University].

https://mro.massey.ac.nz/bitstream/handle/10179/15003/02_whole.pdf?sequence= 2&isAllowed=y

- Sage, E. (2018, October 14). International recognition for Christchurch's Avon-Heathcote Ihutai Estuary. <u>https://www.beehive.govt.nz/release/international-recognition-</u> christchurch%E2%80%99s-avon-heathcote-ihutai-estuary
- Shadbolt, A. (2015). *Christchurch district plan Site of ecological significance*. Christchurch City Council.

https://districtplan.ccc.govt.nz/Images/DistrictPlanImages/Site%20of%20Ecological% 20Significance/SES%20LP%2014.pdf

Siciliano, A., Schiel, D. R., & Thomsen, M. S. (2019). Effects of local anthropogenic stressors on a habitat cascade in an estuarine seagrass system. *Marine and Freshwater Research*, 70(8), 1129-1142. <u>https://doi.org/10.1071/MF18414</u>

- Veloz, S. D., Nur, N., Salas, L., Jongsomjit, D., Wood, J., Stralberg, D., & Ballard, G. (2013).
 Modeling climate change impacts on tidal marsh birds: Restoration and conservation planning in the face of uncertainty. *Ecosphere*, 4(4), art49-25.
 https://doi.org/10.1890/ES12-00341.1
- Woodley, K. (2017). *Bar-tailed godwit*. New Zealand Birds Online. https://nzbirdsonline.org.nz/species/bar-tailed-godwit
- Zeldis, J., Skilton, J., South, P., & Schiel, D. (2011). *Effects of the Canterbury earthquakes on Avon-Heathcote estuary/Ihutai ecology* (Report No. U11/14). Environment Canterbury.